

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Fiorentin, Florencia; Pereira, Mariano; Suárez, Diana

Working Paper The gender gap in public S&T funding: The Matilda effect in STEM disciplines in Argentina

IDB Working Paper Series, No. IDB-WP-1267

Provided in Cooperation with: Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Washington, DC

Suggested Citation: Fiorentin, Florencia; Pereira, Mariano; Suárez, Diana (2022) : The gender gap in public S&T funding: The Matilda effect in STEM disciplines in Argentina, IDB Working Paper Series, No. IDB-WP-1267, Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), Washington, DC, https://doi.org/10.18235/0004017

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/290081

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



ND https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/igo/legalcode







IDB WORKING PAPER SERIES N° IDB-WP-1267

The Gender Gap in Public S&T Funding

The Matilda Effect in STEM Disciplines in Argentina

Prepared for the Inter-American Development Bank by:

Florencia Fiorentin Mariano Pereira Diana Suarez

Inter-American Development Bank Institutions for Development Sector



The Gender Gap in Public S&T Funding

The Matilda Effect in STEM Disciplines in Argentina

Prepared for the Inter-American Development Bank by:

Florencia Fiorentin*, ** Mariano Pereira**, *** Diana Suarez**, ***

*PhD Fellow CONICET, Ciudad Autónoma de Buenos Aires, Argentina **Instituto de Industria, Universidad Nacional de General Sarmiento (Idel/UNGS), Buenos Aires Province, Argentina ***Centro Interdisciplinario de Estudios de Ciencia, Tecnología e Innovación (CIECTI), Ciudad Autónoma de Buenos Aires, Argentina Cataloging-in-Publication data provided by the Inter-American Development Bank Felipe Herrera Library

Fiorentin, Florencia.

The gender gap in public S&T funding: the Matilda effect in STEM disciplines in Argentina / Florencia Fiorentin, Mariano Pereira, Diana Suárez p. cm. — (IDB Working Paper Series ; 1267) Includes bibliographic references. 1. Women in science-Argentina-Econometric models. 2. Women in technology-Argentina-Econometric models. 3. Sex discrimination in science-Argentina-Econometric models. 4. Science-Research grants-Argentina-Econometric models. 5. Technology-Research grants-Argentina-Econometric models. 1. Pereira, Mariano. II. Suárez, Diana (Diana Valeria). III. Inter-American

Development Bank. Competitiveness, Technology and Innovation Division. IV. Title. V. Series. IDB-WP-1267

http://www.iadb.org

Copyright © 2022 Inter-American Development Bank. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons IGO 3.0 Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives (CC-IGO BY-NC-ND 3.0 IGO) license (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/igo/</u> <u>legalcode</u>) and may be reproduced with attribution to the IDB and for any non-commercial purpose, as provided below. No derivative work is allowed.

Any dispute related to the use of the works of the IDB that cannot be settled amicably shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to the UNCITRAL rules. The use of the IDB's name for any purpose other than for attribution and the use of IDB's logo shall be subject to a separate written license agreement between the IDB and the user and is not authorized as part of this CC-IGO license.

Following a peer review process, and with previous written consent by the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), a revised version of this work may also be reproduced in any academic journal, including those indexed by the American Economic Association's EconLit, provided that the IDB is credited and that the author(s) receive no income from the publication. Therefore, the restriction to receive income from such publication shall only extend to the publication's author(s). With regard to such restriction, in case of any inconsistency between the Creative Commons IGO 3.0 Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives license and these statements, the latter shall prevail.

Note that the link provided above includes additional terms and conditions of the license.

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Inter-American Development Bank, its Board of Directors, or the countries they represent.



Abstract*

This study explores the presence of gender bias in public grants for science and technology (S&T) activities-known as the Matilda effect-in STEM disciplines (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) in Argentina. The empirical analysis is based on the Scientific and Technological Research Projects program (PICT in Spanish) for the period 2003-2015 and found that female researchers are less likely to be awarded the first time they apply for a research grant than their male counterparts (-6.2 percentage points, or p.p.). Even for follow-on applications after the first one, without having been awarded before, female researchers remain less likely to be awarded (-3.8 p.p.). However, the probability of being recurrently awarded-known as the Matthew effect-is the same for both male and female researchers. This paper concludes that female researchers in STEM suffer disadvantages in the allocation of public funds to finance their research projects. Only those female researchers that overcome the initial barriers and obtain their first grant can take advantage, as their male counterparts do, of the Matthew effect that makes them more likely to obtain further awards. These results suggest the need for policies aiming at reducing the initial gender gap in accessing public grants for female researchers in STEM.

JEL Codes: N46, 031

Keywords: Matthew effect, Matilda effect, gender bias, STEM, S&T grants

^{*} Florencia Fiorentin: <u>ffiorentin@campus.ungs.edu.ar</u> Mariano Pereira: <u>mpereira@ciecti.org.ar</u> Diana Suarez: <u>dsuarez@campus.ungs.edu.ar</u>

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Theoretical Framework and Research Questions	5
	2.1. The Gender Gap in S&T and the Case of STEM Fields	5
	2.2. Matthew and Matilda Effects on S&T Public Grants and Research	Questions8
3.	The Scientific and Technological Research Projects (PICT) Program in 11	Argentina
	3.1. PICT Aims and Calls	11
	3.2. The Postulation and Selection Processes . 3.2.1. Postulation 3.2.2. Admissibility 3.2.3. Evaluation 3.2.4. Adjudication	12 13 13 13 14 14
4.	Methodology	15
	4.1. Data	15
	4.2. A First Glance at the Gender Gaps in PICT	17
	4.3. Identification Strategy	20
5.	Results and Discussion	21
6.	Conclusions and Policy Implications	27
Re	eferences	29
Aı	nnex 1. The STEM Gap in Argentina	37

1. Introduction

This paper focuses on a subject that has progressively gained worldwide attention: the gender gap in science and technology (S&T). Just 28 percent of researchers are female, measured as average values for the world (UNESCO, 2017). Among Latin American countries, this value ranges from 50–60 percent in the case of Uruguay, Argentina, Guatemala, and Venezuela, and drops to 30–35 percent in the case of Peru, Mexico, and Chile (Albornoz et al., 2018). Besides this aggregated gap, there is the "horizontal" segregation. As regards the disciplines, women tend to specialize in Humanities and Social Sciences disciplines and men in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) (López-Bassols et al., 2018). At the international level, women represent less than 30 percent of STEM positions on S&T even when they compose 35 percent of undergraduate students enrolled in STEM degrees (UNESCO, 2017). Women's lower participation in STEM fields is a problem for development in the sense that it reduces the diversity and breadth of the themes approached by S&T.

Argentina is among the countries with the highest levels of female participation in S&T with 53 percent (Albornoz et al., 2018). However, while 17 percent of all male researchers reach the highest level in their academic career, this value drops to 11 percent for women (D'Onofrio and Tignino, 2018; Albornoz et al., 2018), suggesting the existence of a glass ceiling or vertical segregation (D'Onofrio and Tignino, 2018). Additionally, women are less likely to be awarded research grants to fund S&T activities (Fiorentin et al., 2018) and also receive lower levels of recognition by peers (Fiorentin, Pereira, and Suarez, 2020). Only 38 percent of women researchers are working in STEM fields, while among men the participation is close to 50 percent (SiCyTAR, 2020).

In this context, the objective of this study is to provide evidence about the presence and extension of the gender bias in being awarded a public grant for S&T activity in STEM fields¹ in Argentina. To analyze the presence of different manifestations of the Matilda effect, the focus is on the process of allocation of grants,. The Matilda effect refers to the lower probability of women to be awarded than men (Rossiter, 1993). The Matilda effect is, to some extent, the application of the gender perspective to the Matthew effect (Merton, 1968), which refers to the positive impact of reputation on the probability of being awarded public funds for S&T. This study analyzes different patterns of persistence by gender, assuming the Matthew effect as a possible source of the Matilda effect.

¹ This paper follows the definition of STEM fields provided by Statistics Canada (https://www.statcan.gc.ca/). This definition includes Mathematics, Sciences, Engineering, and Computer and Information Sciences (CIS).

The contribution of this study is threefold. First, it questions gender equality at the aggregate level by closely analyzing the allocation of Argentine S&T funds in STEM fields considering gender. Second, it analyzes the existence of gender gaps in developing economies—where empirical evidence tends to be scarcer—and, finally, it explores three sources of the Matilda effect, provides evidence, and solves that contradiction. The study examines whether there are different patterns of accessing S&T funds by gender, distinguishing in terms of the first application, first award, and—once awarded—recurrence.

The S&T policy under study is the Scientific and Technological Research Projects (PICT in Spanish) program in Argentina, a line of funding of the Argentine National Fund for Scientific and Technological Research (FONCyT). PICT is the main public source of funding for S&T projects in Argentina. The period under analysis is 2003–2015, which coincides with an increase in the level of financial resources (Suarez and Fiorentin, 2018). PICT's information was expanded by adding bibliometric information retrieved from the Scopus repository. The integration of the information resulted in an unbalanced panel database. Each data point represents a researcher-year of application observation—6,429 researchers and 11,291 observations—containing information related to their academic productivity and achievements, and bibliographical characteristics.

Results confirm the gender gap in Argentine S&T funding in the case of STEM projects. We find that female researchers are less likely to be awarded the first time they apply to PICT than their male counterparts (-6.2 percentage points, or p.p.), and especially in the case of senior researchers compared to young ones (-8 p.p. vs. -5.1 respectively). Even for follow-on applications after the first one, female researchers that had not been previously awarded remain less likely to be awarded (-3.8 p.p.). However, the probability of being recurrently awarded—the Matthew effect—is the same for both male and female researchers. These results show that the Matilda effect is verified in the first award, whether it is the first time women apply or not. Once female researchers in STEM are part of the "awarded group" they can take advantage of the Matthew effect—that is, they become as likely as men to be awarded again. However, appropriate caution is necessary to interpret our empirical findings due to the limited number of observations.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. The theoretical framework and research questions are presented in Section 2. The PICT program is described in Section 3. Data, methodology, and some PICT descriptive statistics with a gender perspective are presented in Section 4. The presentation and discussion of results are in Section 5. Finally, some conclusions are provided in Section 6.

4

2. Theoretical Framework and Research Questions

2.1. The Gender Gap in S&T and the Case of STEM Fields

Women's underrepresentation in S&T activities is heterogeneous among Latin American and Caribbean countries: some countries reach gender parity while others show increasing gaps (Albornoz et al., 2018). However, women have lower participation in the private sector and STEM disciplines in every country of the region (López-Aguirre, 2019; Arredondo Trapero, Vázquez Parra, and Velázquez Sánchez, 2019; López-Bassols et al., 2018).

Literature sustains that women face several barriers as they progress in their personal life and career. In terms of S&T, several interrelated concepts that describe gender bias have emerged, which can be grouped into two explanations: those related to difference and those associated with deficit. (Kubota, 2003; León, Mairesse, and Cowan, 2017; Sonnert and Holton, 1995). The difference explanation refers to a set of observable characteristics that have been systematically identified and that account for the quantitative bias, such as gender-based differences in tenure, seniority, productivity, and citations (Ranga, Gupta, and Etzkowitz, 2012; Huang et al., 2020). This explanation also includes other observable factors beyond the academy and linked to the generic division of labor, such as maternity, emotional plus-value (mental load), and childcare (Sotudeh and Khoshian, 2014; Canetto et al., 2017). The problem of these elements, even when they are observable, is that they can hardly be controlled in any empirical approximation, mainly due to scarce information.

The deficit explanation refers to discrimination as an unobservable factor suffered by women in academia. As a result, there is a biased self-perception among women that leads to the selection of particular professions, research themes, and even the use of particular language, which is generally assumed as deficient compared to male research's practices (Zare-ee and Kuar, 2012; Sunderland, 2006; Piña-Watson et al., 2016). These problems are induced by a set of macro-social beliefs that create a collective imagination that claims that women lack the appropriate characteristics to exercise particular positions, such as project and team management (Linková, 2017; León, Mairesse, and Cowan, 2017), and that they also lack the intelligence needed to specialize in particular disciplines, mainly STEM ones (Cidlinská, 2019; Dasgupta and Stout, 2014; López-Bassols et al., 2018).

Within these explanations, several concepts define observable differences between genders in S&T (Bautista-Puig, García-Zorita, and Mauleón, 2019). The "leaky pipeline" effect suggests that the "flow" of women's participation decreases from grade school to post-secondary school (Xu, 2008; López-Aguirre, 2019), particularly in the case of STEM disciplines (Morcelle, Freitas, and Ludwig, 2019; Xu, 2008). The flow of women that is not lost along the way and attains graduate studies is then affected by vertical segregation or the glass ceiling. These

5

concepts imply that even when distribution among gender is harmonic at the base of the pyramid, women are less represented in more hierarchical positions (Park, 2020; Mauleón and Bordons, 2006; León, Mairesse, and Cowan, 2017). This is also manifested by the "scissors diagram": at the beginning, there are more women than men in absolute terms, but as they progress in academic positions, men outnumber women (Bautista-Puig, García-Zorita, and Mauleón, 2019). Problems are even worse in the presence of horizontal segregation, related to the fact that women and men are centered in different disciplines, suggesting some type of gender-based division of labor in S&T (López-Bassols et al., 2018; Park, 2020). The "sticky floor" effect refers to some extent to all these problems and shows that women face additional obstacles, especially in STEM fields, all along their career that prevent them from moving upward (Carrillo, Gandelman, and Robano, 2014; Bukstein and Gandelman, 2017). All of this results in occupational segregation.

In this line, and in terms of performance, a complex phenomenon in the academy is the difference in productivity by gender, called the "productivity puzzle" (Cole and Zuckerman, 1984). Evidence largely proves that women publish fewer papers than men. In fact, in the last sixteen years, even when the gender gap has been reduced, the productivity gap did increase (Huang et al., 2020). The lower productivity leads women to receive fewer citations and recognition, thus making them less likely to be awarded, known in the literature as the Matilda effect (Rossiter, 1993).

As in any complex system, all these factors of discrimination reinforce each other. Women act differently than men because they are (self)assumed as different (the difference explanation), and that impacts cultural stereotypes. Conversely, cultural barriers prevent them from having the same trajectories as men (the deficit explanation), and that impacts women's and men's perception about the generic division of labor (Miller, Eagly, and Linn, 2015; León, Mairesse, and Cowan, 2017). Horizontal segregation triggers the glass ceiling; that is, women occupy fewer managerial positions in the private sector than men (Bastarrica et al., 2018) and are less likely to be promoted in academia (Mauleón and Bordons, 2006; León, Mairesse, and Cowan, 2017). The glass ceiling negatively impacts the probability of being recognized and published, and the lower recognition and publishing rates affect women's applications to public funds. In addition, the leaky pipeline effect makes women desist from studying a university degree, particularly in a STEM discipline, due to culturally imposed barriers (Dasgupta and Stout, 2014; Morcelle, Freitas, and Ludwig, 2019). Of course, given that women occupy less-hierarchical positions and manage fewer teams and projects in the S&T sector, they are less productive than men (Prpić, 2002; Mauleón and Bordons, 2006).

All these facts have been largely proven at the international level (Frietsch et al., 2009; Boustan and Langan, 2019; Jiménez-Rodrigo et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2020), including in

Latin American countries (López-Bassols et al., 2018; López-Aguirre, 2019). However, how the different explanations affect women's performance (and if they do) is still an enigma. Results are not conclusive in terms of how family structure and academic career impact researchers' performance by gender (Mairesse, Pezzoni, and Visentin, 2019; Kyvik, 1990). For instance, León, Mairesse, and Cowan (2017) studied women's productivity in Mexico and found that once all factors related to the career are controlled (meaning, if women have equal opportunities of promotion and tenure), women tend to be more productive than men. In this regard, several studies suggest that family condition generates the productivity puzzle. In this sense, married women and/or mothers are less productive than married men and/or fathers, particularly when their children are young (Kyvik and Teigen, 1996; Mairesse, Pezzoni, and Visentin, 2019; Kyvik, 1990). However, these family characteristics have also been demonstrated to make women more productive (Frandsen et al., 2015; Aiston and Jung, 2015; Fox, 2005; Padilla-Gonzalez et al., 2011). In addition, some studies do not verify the productivity gap (Aboal and Vairo, 2018; Padilla-Gonzalez et al., 2011; León, Mairesse, and Cowan, 2017).

One possible explanation of the inconclusive evidence is that several observable factors are not adequately taken into account in the econometric models (Mairesse, Pezzoni, and Visentin, 2019; Kyvik, 1990). Of course, part of the lack of consensus might also lie in the fact that unobservable dimensions cannot be totally controlled, as is the case with the deficit explanation (Miller, Eagly, and Linn, 2015; Morcelle, Freitas, and Ludwig, 2019).

However, literature about STEM disciplines specifically is far more conclusive and provides overwhelming evidence. STEM disciplines are generalized to be male-dominated disciplines (Cidlinská, 2019; Dasgupta and Stout, 2014) in the sense that the "proper scientists" in these fields are assumed to be linked to masculine features (Cidlinská, 2019; Miller, Eagly, and Linn, 2015). For instance, Miller, Eagly, and Linn (2015) analyzed 66 countries and concluded that women are less represented in STEM due to national stereotypes that discourage them from studying these fields. Morcelle, Freitas, and Ludwig (2019) demonstrated that Brazilian women, especially black women, suffer cultural barriers not only in research and universities but also in primary and secondary schools, thus confirming the leaky pipeline. The leaky pipeline effect has also been demonstrated in Colombia (López-Aguirre, 2019) and the United States (Xu, 2008). The productivity gap (Mairesse, Pezzoni, and Visentin, 2019; Huang et al., 2020) and occupational segregation (Conti and Visentin, 2015; Bastarrica et al., 2018) have also been proven for researchers worldwide.

In short, the literature concludes that the gender bias in STEM is more related to cultural stereotypes (deficit explanation) rather than observable factors, such as generic division of labor or opportunities to access university education (difference explanation) (Ong et al., 2011;

Arredondo Trapero, Vázquez Parra, and Velázquez Sánchez, 2019; Xu, 2008; Morcelle, Freitas, and Ludwig, 2019; Cidlinská, 2019; Dasgupta and Stout, 2014). Hence, neutral policy to foster S&T activity shall not be expected to lead to equality in generic terms since STEM fields are a priori male-biased. In this regard, this study aims to explore whether a horizontal public program to foster S&T activity in Argentina reinforces the initial bias suffered by female researchers in STEM.

2.2. Matthew and Matilda Effects on S&T Public Grants and Research Questions

Literature about S&T policy is mostly focused on impact evaluations of grants, with special attention to the effects on awarded researchers' performance. Based on bibliometric analyses, the majority of these works confirm positive impacts on quantity and quality of publications, for both developed and developing countries (Arora, David, and Gambardella, 2000; Inglesi-Lotz and Pouris, 2011; Godin, 2003; Jacob and Lefgren, 2011; Arza and Vazquez, 2015). Another important body of literature—although less developed—analyzes the process of allocation of grants, based on the traditional Matthew effect from Merton (1968).

The origin of the Matthew effect is placed in the field of Sociology of Science and refers to the higher levels of recognition some researchers receive due to their reputation instead of their current performance. In the matter of S&T public grants, the Matthew effect is defined as the recurrent awarding of researchers due to reasons not exclusively based on the submitted research project (David 1994). Researchers who have been previously awarded are then more likely to be selected in the next calls, either because of the learning processes they went through when formulating and implementing an awarded research project, or due to the accumulation of recognition because of the previous award(s) (Merton, 1988, 1968). Evidence confirms the Matthew effect both for developed countries (Bol, de Vaan, and van de Rijt, 2018; Cremonini, Horlings, and Hessels, 2018; Langfeldt et al., 2015) and, although the evidence is scarcer, developing countries (Vera-Cruz et al., 2008; Suarez and Fiorentin, 2018).

Related to the Matthew effect, gender studies alert about the Matilda effect (Rossiter, 1993), which refers to women's lower probabilities of being awarded. Of course, most of the explanations about the Matilda effect are based on the concepts defined in Section 2.1. Lower positions, levels of publication, and citation rates negatively impact the evaluation of a researcher's profile, which is usually a key dimension of the evaluation process. The Matilda effect also results from biased peer-review evaluations: both male and female reviewers are less likely to select projects directed by women (Witteman et al., 2019; Mutz, Bornmann, and Daniel, 2012; Bornmann, Mutz, and Daniel, 2007). It is also the result of the Matthew effect, given that the latter leads to the selection of the same prominent male researchers at the

expense of women. All of this results in a perverse dynamic of systematic underrepresentation by women in S&T in general, and in public grants allocation in particular.

The gender gap in public grants for S&T has been verified, particularly in STEM fields (Ranga, Gupta, and Etzkowitz, 2012; Mutz, Bornmann, and Daniel, 2012; Cruz-Castro and Sanz-Menéndez, 2019). For instance, a study based on STEM fields in Canada between 2011 and 2016 found that women's probability of being awarded was -0.9 p.p. (Witteman et al., 2019). The study concludes that the gender bias probably emerges from subjective bias among reviewers (both female and male), systematic bias within the program, and the fact that women's submissions are less robust than men's (because they do not know how to prepare them or are discouraged by so many rejections). Among medical school faculty in the United States, a study shows that women are less likely to be awarded in biomedical themes (Waisbren et al., 2008). This study confirms that men are more likely to be awarded in first submissions and resubmissions than women. In addition, women receive less administrative, professional, and technical support, fewer years of granting, and a lower median amount of money than men. In the case of STEM fields in the United States, women are less represented in submissions (26 percent), grants (22 percent), and reviews (26-28 percent) (Bautista-Puig, García-Zorita, and Mauleón, 2019). In the United Kingdom, women have been less likely to be granted for the past 20 years (Head et al., 2013). In Italy (Jappelli, Nappi, and Torrini, 2017) and Austria (Mutz, Bornmann, and Daniel, 2012), women are discriminated against by evaluation processes based on peer review. In Iceland, women are less awarded than men, especially in male-dominated disciplines (Steinbórsdóttir et al., 2020).

Among developing countries, the evidence is scarce and contradictory. Bukstein and Gandelman (2017) show that female researchers have 7.1 p.p. lower probabilities than male researchers of being accepted into the largest national research support program in Uruguay. The gender gap is wider at the higher ranks of the program, consistent with the existence of a glass ceiling. Aboal and Vairo (2018) evaluated the impact of Paraguay's National Researcher Incentive Program on the gender production gap in academic science. Their results indicate that there is a preexistent gender gap in productivity among researchers. There is no evidence, however, of intended gender discrimination in favor of male researchers at the allocation stage of the program. The outcome also demonstrates that the impact of the program is heterogeneous across genders.

Regarding the impact of Argentina's PICT program, studies conclude that researchers awarded by PICT are more productive, their production is of higher quality, and they strengthen their research groups through hiring and retention and greater visibility on social media, as a result of being awarded (Chudnovsky et al., 2008; Codner et al., 2006; Codner, 2011, 2013; Ghezan and Pereira, 2014; MINCyT, 2011; Arza and Vazquez, 2015). However,

9

none of these works included a gender perspective. Part of the same project as this paper, Fiorentin et al. (2018) analyzed the probability of access and persistence for women's submissions to PICT and found robust evidence about the Matilda effect whether it was the first submission or they had been awarded before. Their results show that female researchers are 3.3 p.p. less likely to be awarded for the first time than men, and 6 p.p. less likely if they were awarded before. One of the elements not explored in Fiorentin et al. (2018) was the impact on STEM in particular. Going forward in that vein, we derive from this evidence our research questions:

- RQ1: Are women in STEM less likely than men to be awarded a research grant the first time they submit a project?
- RQ2: Are women in STEM less likely than men to be awarded a research grant for the first time, regardless of how many projects they have submitted?
- RQ3: Are women in STEM less likely than men to be awarded a research grant when they have been awarded before?

The research questions highlight the novelty of the paper—that is, they are focused on the different instances in which a female researcher may suffer the Matilda effect. RQ1 wonders about the existence of the Matilda effect only in the case of the first submission (that is, gender discrimination in entering PICT). Regarding RQ2, a female researcher can suffer gender discrimination linked to lower probabilities of being awarded for the first time, regardless of how many previous submissions she has done (that is, gender discrimination in accessing PICT). Finally, regarding RQ3, once a female researcher obtains her first grant, she may suffer gender discrimination in her following submissions (i.e., gender discrimination in receiving recurrent awards with PICT—the Matthew effect as the source of the Matilda effect). She could also be recognized the same as a man, since she has already overcome several barriers that the S&T system imposed on her. To the best of our knowledge, however, there are no previous studies centered on this issue, so we cannot present a hypothesis about this.

The underlying hypothesis of this research is that the PICT program might be a good instrument to reduce gender bias given its scope and recognition. However, it could be working as a non-neutral program by reinforcing the ex ante discrimination against female researchers, since it does not consider the existence of the gap (see Annex 1 for more detail about the gender gap in STEM in the Argentine S&T system). The results of this paper may offer a more complex view of the phenomenon and provide some evidence and reflections to contribute to the process of policy design to eliminate existing gender bias and to avoid the creation of new gaps.

3. The Scientific and Technological Research Projects (PICT) Program in Argentina

3.1. PICT Aims and Calls

PICT is based on matching grants and is the most important line of funding of the Fund for Research in Science, Technology, and Innovation (FONCyT in Spanish). FONCyT is one of the three funds that compose the National Agency for the Promotion of Research, Technological Development, and Innovation (Agencia I+D+i in Spanish). Agencia I+D+i is a decentralized institution that depends on the Ministry of Science, Technology, and Innovation (MINCyT). It was created in 1996 to separate the functions of promotion and financing from those activities related to the design and execution of Science, Technology, and Innovation (STI) policy. The PICT program began its activities in 1997 and it has remained almost unaltered since then.

The PICT program is intended to support participation in scientific conferences, specialized technical services, and equipment expenses. Unlike typical subsidy programs in developed countries, PICT's funds cannot be used to pay researchers' salaries, which are assumed to be paid by the institutions where they work. Most of the applications to the PICT program come from public universities or research centers where salaries are guaranteed from the public budget. Therefore, researchers' wages are accepted as the counterpart required of the beneficiary institution (to which the responsible researcher belongs, and where the project is executed).

PICT's lines of funding are organized around three types of calls. One call is for young researchers. It requires the principal investigator of the project to be less than 38 years old and not in charge of a research team. The second type of call is for recently formed teams,² in which all team members are required to be less than 48 years old. Finally, there is a call for consolidated teams that requires at least one team member to be more than 48 years old. Each of the three call types is further divided into subject areas. Four subject areas are defined: (i) open themes: all fields of science, (ii) Argentina 2020: themes defined as strategic for development in the national plan, (iii) international cooperation: projects that include research teams from abroad, and (iv) start-up: projects that include technological development and transfer. Table 1 presents the types of calls and subject areas allowed.

² Since there is no unified registry of research groups in Argentina, to define if a research group is recently formed (or consolidated) PICT uses the age of the responsible researcher and its members as indirect proxies.

Type of call	Subject areas
Consolidated teams	All
Young researcher	I and II
Recently formed teams	I and II

Table 1. PICT: Types of Calls and Subject Areas

Source: Authors' elaboration based on PICT calls for submissions.

Researchers from public or private nonprofit organizations can apply to the fund by submitting a detailed project proposal. Each project has a maximum duration of three years—two for young researchers—and does not impede researchers who were awarded in the past to reapply for another grant, except for young researchers, who are not able to reapply to the same type of call. The only constraint is the maximum of two granted projects at the same time.

3.2. The Submission and Selection Processes

Regarding the submission and selection processes, four steps can be identified: submission, admissibility, evaluation, and adjudication. Figure 1 summarizes these steps.





Source: Authors' elaboration based on terms and conditions of PICT calls for submissions.

3.2.1. Submission

The PICT annual calls are published and shared by different means (FONCyT's official page and social media, among others), and establish the deadlines for submissions. To apply for funds, researchers must submit a research project. The structure of the project is based on general guidelines of a research project that lasts between two and three years, depending on the type of call the researcher and their team are submitting. Guidelines for the elaboration of the technical description are provided to responsible researchers, who must detail the budget assignation based on the type of call and subject area. They also must include counterpart details. The technical description includes seven sections: (i) general objectives, (ii) specific objectives and working hypotheses, (iii) relevance of the problem, (iv) preliminary results and contributions of the working group, (v) construction of the hypothesis and justification of the methodology, (vi) type of research and research methods, and (vii) schedule.

In addition to the research project, the responsible researcher must submit their professional and personal information, as well as that of the rest of the team. Both research projects and researchers' information must be uploaded through official online applications: a submission system managed by FONCyT for the project details and the CVar platform for the professional information, which must include details of the capabilities of the economically benefited institution and the team's knowledge of the disciplinary field that corresponds to the project impacts. Finally, space allows for the optional inclusion of ethical and environmental safeguards, as well as the challenge of peer evaluators.

3.2.2. Admissibility

The admission stage consists of an administrative and procedural analysis of the applications received. PICT's disciplinary area coordinators verify that each project fulfills the administrative requirements that constitute the admission criteria related to the dates of the calls, the characteristics of the research project, and budget distribution allowed. Then, the required characteristics of researchers are also verified. The most important criteria are that the applicants must have a formal labor relationship with an Argentinian institution, dedicate at minimum 50 percent of their time to the project, have a PhD degree or equivalent merit, have participated on research projects, and have a high enough publication score in the last five years. Those projects that overcome the admissibility stage are deemed "accredited" and sent to evaluation. The rest of the projects are "nonaccredited" and rejected by the administrative process.

3.2.3. Evaluation

Once the project passes the first screening, an evaluation of the scientific-technological quality of the submitted project is executed by the disciplinary and ad hoc commissions. This stage is based on a single-blind peer-review process. Commissions assign each project to two specialized evaluators whose identity remains anonymous. However, the evaluators are provided with the personal data of the researcher (including name), in order to evaluate their career in addition to the project. The evaluation must follow an evaluation grid and good practice guidelines. To evaluate the project, each evaluator assesses three criteria: the scientific and technological content of the project; the consistency between objectives, methodology, and work plan; and the scientific and technological capacity of the research group or young researcher. The final grade is the weighted average of the score assigned to each criterion.

Then, an ad hoc commission³ assesses the merit of the proposed projects. To this purpose, a project's quality and pertinence in terms of the expected impact are considered,⁴ depending on the type and subject area of the project. The weighting of the quality and pertinence attributes does not follow a pre-established formula and is defined by each commission according to its criteria. Then, the disciplinary commission's coordinators carry out a general review that considers the scientific-technological capacity of the responsible researcher and the team, the presence of dispersions in the evaluations, and possible observations made by peers, including the need for a new evaluation.

Projects are scored from 1 to 10. Once the project ranking has been determined, the ad hoc commission proposes a list of projects to be awarded, depending on the funds available and seeking to maintain a regional balance in the distribution of funds. In any case, projects scored less than 6 are not selected.

3.2.4. Adjudication

Finally, Agencia I+D+i's executive board approves the list drawn up by the disciplinary commission and publishes the results. This step includes the official communication of the ranking and notification to responsible researchers. Also, the board resolves requests for

³ Each ad hoc commission is designated by Agencia I+D+i's executive board and is composed of eight well-known members of the scientific and technological community and/or foreign experts with the necessary expertise to analyze the projects.

⁴ According to PICT's calls, the criteria to analyze the pertinence of a project are (i) the impact on the institutional capacities for research and development, (ii) the impact on the disciplinary areas, and (iii) the impact on the productive and social sector. Also, each ad hoc commission may define and apply other criteria as deemed appropriate as long as they are consistent with the general criteria.

reconsideration submitted by non-awarded researchers. Reconsiderations are revised by disciplinary or ad hoc commissions, and finally resolved by Agencia I+D+i's executive board.

4. Methodology

4.1. Data

To address our three research questions, we merge two sources of information: (i) PICT's administrative registers of the population of responsible researchers that applied to the PICT funding program, whether they were granted or not, and (ii) applicants' bibliometric information retrieved from the Scopus database. Since we could not access the information about the members of the research team, the unit of analysis is the responsible researcher who applies. This category includes both the young researcher who applies without a team as well as the research team leader.

We restricted the sample to responsible researchers working in STEM fields. Departing from the All Science Journal Classification used in Scopus,⁵ we identified the most frequent subject area for each responsible researcher. If this subject area belonged to Science, Engineering, Mathematics, or Computer and Information Sciences (CIS), we determined that this researcher belonged to a STEM field.

The resulting dataset is an unbalanced panel at the level of responsible researcher and year of application: 6,429 responsible researchers and 11,291 observations. The database covers the period from 2003 to 2015, but the PICT started its activities in 1997. In order to study RQ1—barriers to entry during the observational period—we analyze the historical record of applicants. In this way, we identify 3,153 researchers that applied for a research grant for the first time. The database includes information on researchers' participation in the program together with their scientific productivity, academic achievements, and bibliographic information. Table 2 presents a detailed description of the explanatory variables used in the model.

⁵Available at https://service.elsevier.com/app/answers/detail/a_id/15181/supporthub/scopus/.

Variable	Description	Values		
Responsible Research	er Characteristics			
PICT _{it}	Research grant awarded in year t	1 if yes; 0 otherwise		
Past _{i,t}	At least one grant awarded in the past	1 if the researcher was previously awarded; 0 otherwise		
Number of submissions _{it}	Total number of submissions to PICT	0 to 8		
Published papers _{it}	Total number of papers indexed in Scopus	0 to ∞		
Citations received	The average number of citations per year	0 to ∞		
Experience _{it}	Years since the researcher's first publication indexed in Scopus*	0 to ∞		
Project category _{it}	Set of 3 binary variables that indicate the category of the submitted project	1 if open theme; 0 otherwise 1 if Argentina 2020; 0 otherwise 1 if Rest of categories; 0 otherwise		
Project type _{it}	Set of 3 binary variables that indicate the type of research team of the project	1 if Young Researcher; 0 otherwise 1 if New Research Group; 0 otherwise 1 if Consolidated Research Group; 0 otherwise		
STEM _{it}	Set of 3 binary variables that indicate the major field of study within STEM following the definition of Statistics Canada (2016): Science, Engineering, Mathematics, and Computer and Information Sciences	1 if Science and Science Technology; 0 otherwise 1 if Engineering and Engineering Technology; 0 otherwise 1 if Mathematics and CIS; 0 otherwise		
Femalei	The binary variable indicates if the researcher is a woman	1 if woman; 0 otherwise		
Time, Institutional, and	Regional Fixed Effects			
Region _{it}	Set of 5 binary variables that indicate the geographical location of researchers	1 if Northwest; 0 otherwise 1 if Northeast; 0 otherwise 1 if South; 0 otherwise 1 if West; 0 otherwise 1 if Central; 0 otherwise		
Institution _{it}	Set of 3 binary variables that indicate the institution type of researchers	1 if University; 0 otherwise 1 if National Scientific and Technical Research Council (CONICET); 0 otherwise 1 if Research Center; 0 otherwise		
Yeart	Set of binary variables that account for time-fixed effects	2003–2015		

Table 2. Variable List

Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database. * PICT's administrative registers do not include information about researchers' birth or graduation year. Hence, their experience was measured from the time their first paper was published.

4.2. A First Glance at the Gender Gaps in PICT

During the period under analysis in this study (2003–2015), the number of projects awarded by PICT grew noticeably (see Figure 2). Between 2003 and 2008 an average number of 601 projects were granted per year, while between 2010 and 2015 the average number of projects granted grew to 960 per year. In this context, the number of female researchers awarded remained stable at around 45 percent throughout the entire period. These results suggest to some extent the existence of a gender gap in PICT, given that women's participation in this program (45 percent) is lower than women's participation in the whole scientific system (53 percent).





Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database. * During 2009 PICT did not launch calls for proposals due to the international financial crisis that affected public budgets.

In terms of STEM projects, they represent most of the submitted projects (70 percent) as well as projects awarded (69.8 percent) during the period under analysis. In respect to the gender bias, 53.4 percent of STEM projects were awarded to male researchers. This proportion drops to 50.1 percent for the other disciplines. As shown in Table 3, female researchers from the whole sample reach a ratio of awarded to submitted projects of 46.9 percent, while this increases to 57 percent for men. When it comes to the STEM award ratio, differences are similar: the award ratio is 55 percent for male researchers and 46 percent for their female counterparts. This means that while the total adjudication rate within STEM projects is 50.6 percent, it is only 46 percent for women. Similarly, the award ratio is also higher for men than women in the rest of the fields (61 percent vs. 48.9 percent).

	Women			Men		Whole Sample						
Submitted	Awarded	Ratio	Submitted	Award	ed Ratio	Submitted	Awarded	Ratio				
STEM Researchers												
6,601	3,037	46.0%	6,286	3,481	55.4%***	12,887	6,518	50.6%				
			Non-STEI	M Resea	archers							
3,084	1,507	48.9%	2,475	1,516	61.3%***	5,559	3,023	54.4%				
	Whole Sample											
9,685	4,544	46.9%	8,761	4,997	57.0%***	18,446	9,541	51.7%				

Table 3. PICT's Grant Distribution by Gender and Disciplines (total number of projects, 2003–2015)

Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database.

Note: *** statistically significant at 1 percent, ** statistically significant at 5 percent, * statistically significant at 10 percent.

Considering the distribution by gender and type of call in STEM fields, Table 4 shows award ratios. In the case of young researchers, the ratio is higher than for research teams (recently formed and consolidated teams), but the difference is lower by gender. In the case of team leaders, men's average probability of being awarded is 8 p.p. higher than for women responsible researchers. For young researchers, the gap is 6 p.p., suggesting that the gender gap is manifested in both cases and is larger for senior researchers. Hence, as female researchers progress in their profession, they are less likely to be awarded than male researchers, suggesting the existence of a glass ceiling as well as the leaky pipeline effect.

	Women			Men		Whole Sample					
Submitted	Awarded	Ratio	Submitted	Awardeo	Ratio	Submitted	Awarded	Ratio			
Young Researchers											
2,099	1,126	53.6%	1,551	924	59.6%	3,650	2,050	56.2%			
			Rese	arch Tear	ns						
4,502	1,911	42.4%	4,735	2,557	54.0%***	9,237	4,468	48.4%			
	STEM Researchers										
6,601	3,037	46.0%	6,286	3,481	55.4%***	12,887	6,518	50.6%			

Table 4. PICT's STEM Grant Distribution by Gender and Type of Call (total number of projects, 2003–2015)

Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database.

Note: *** statistically significant at 1 percent, ** statistically significant at 5 percent, * statistically significant at 10 percent.

Regarding performance (see Table 5), male researchers publish more papers than female researchers and receive more citations. Even though this paper is not focused on determinants of obtaining grants, this performance bias between genders may affect the process of allocation of PICT, disadvantaging women.

	Whole Sample Rejected Awarded Tot 2.4 3.0 2.7* 1.9 2.2 2.0 2.1 2.6 2.4 6.0 10.0 8.2*			Rese	earch Team	S	Young Researchers		
	Rejected	Awarded	Total	Rejected	Awarded	Total	Rejected	Awarded	Total
					Papers				
Male	2.4	3.0	2.7***	2.6	3.4	3.0***	1.6	2.0	1.9**
Female	1.9	2.2	2.0	2.1	2.6	2.3	1.3	1.4	1.4
Total	2.1	2.6	2.4	2.3	3.0	2.7	1.4	1.7	1.6
					Citations				
Male	6.0	10.0	8.2**	6.8	11.3	9.2***	3.4	6.6	5.3***
Female	5.2	6.9	6.0	6.0	8.2	7.0	3.1	4.6	3.9
Total	5.6	8.6	7.1	6.4	10.0	8.1	3.2	5.5	4.5

Table 5. PICT's STEM Researchers' Performance by Gender and Type of Call (total number of projects, 2003–2015)

Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database.

Notes: Mean test is performed to study differences between male and female researchers despite their awarded status. *** statistically significant at 1 percent, ** statistically significant at 5 percent, * statistically significant at 10 percent.

All in all, PICT's distribution of awards suggests the existence of a gender gap, related to the Matilda effect. According to the adjudication rate, women are less likely to be awarded than men, both for STEM and non-STEM disciplines. For both groups of disciplines, women's awarded projects are less than half of the total awarded projects. However, when it comes to young researchers who submitted projects based on STEM disciplines, the participation of female researchers increases, not only because they apply more but also because they are more often awarded. Evidence is in line with the productivity bias in the case of STEM in Argentina, given that female researchers publish less, in journals with lower impact factors, and receive fewer citations than their male counterparts (see Annex 1).

4.3. Identification Strategy

We will aim to capture the existence of gender gaps in the allocation of funding for sciencebased projects. To do that, we estimate two sets of regression. First, a regression on first-time applicants. Second, a discrete choice participation model for applications done at any point in time.

For the first set of regressions, the observed discrete variable $PICT_i$ is associated with an underlying $PICT_i^*$ latent variable. The probability of obtaining funding is assumed to be a function of a set of lagged observable covariates $x_{i,t-1}$; $female_i$ which is a dummy that indicates if the researcher who submitted a project is a woman; an unobservable time-invariant individual's effect; and a time-varying idiosyncratic random error component $(u_{i,t})$. The proposed baseline estimation is in Equation [1].

$$PICT_i^* = \alpha_i + \gamma female_i + x'_{i,t-1}\beta_k + u_{i,t}$$
^[1]

The probability of receiving funding will be estimated given the characteristics of the researcher before the awarding status (gender, age, level of education, scientific production). We would find evidence of gender bias in the selection process if, after controlling for all relevant covariates, female researchers have a lower probability of being awarded than men. For the second set of regressions, we model the probability of obtaining funding on a panel data setting (Equation [2]). Given the possibility that researchers will apply multiple times in consecutive years we employ a PROBIT model for panel data.

$$PICT_{it}^* = \alpha_i + \gamma female_i + \lambda Past_{i,t} + \eta (female_i \times Past_{i,t}) + x'_{i,t-1}\beta_k + u_{i,t}$$
[2]

The model in [2] controls for previous funding status ($Past_{i,t}$), which captures whether the applicant was awarded in any previous call and interact it with female participation ($female_i \ x \ Past_{i,t}$). The interaction term allows the effect of gender ($female_i$) on the

probability of receiving funding to depend on the history of participation ($Past_{i,t}$). The conditional expectation of $PICT_{it}^* = 1$ for $past_i = 1$ given different values ($female_i$) is then computed as follows:

$$E(PICT_{it}^* = 1 | female_i = 1, Past_{i,t} = 1) = \alpha_i + \gamma + \lambda + \eta$$
[3]

$$E(PICT_{it}^* = 1 | female_i = 0, Past_{i,t} = 1) = \alpha_i + \lambda$$
[4]

$$E(PICT_{it}^{*} = 1 | female_{i} = 1, Past_{i,t} = 1) - E(PICT_{it}^{*} = 1 | female_{i} = 0, Past_{i,t} = 1)$$

$$= \gamma + \eta$$
[5]

Then $\gamma + \eta$ in Equation [5] is the difference in the effect of being a recurrent participant for women versus men. The latter would allow us to test for gender discrimination in recurrent access to funding. If $\gamma + \eta < 0$ this could suggest that there is gender discrimination against women in recurrent access to the funding (i.e., a Matilda effect potentially sourced from a Merton's Matthew effect). In addition, λ represents the conditional expectation of the probability of funding given that the researcher is male and obtained a research grant in the past. If $\lambda > 0$, this provides evidence of a Matthew effect in access to public funding for scientific research.

To allow for correlation between α_i and $x'_{i,t-1}$ we follow the proposition of Mundlak (1978) and Chamberlain (1984): $\alpha_i = \xi' \overline{X}_i + \varepsilon_i$ where ε_i is assumed independent from $x'_{i,t-1}$ and $u_{i,t}$ for all the researchers and time periods. We define \overline{X}_i as the longitudinal average of researcher structural characteristics. The assumption is that differences in average longitudinal characteristics are informative about the underlying researcher-specific characteristics so that the individual differences that are left (ε_i) may be more plausibly supposed to be independent of observed characteristics.

5. Results and Discussion

In order to answer RQ1, we estimated the presence of gender bias in the probability of being awarded the first time a researcher applies. Table 6 is based on Equation [1] and reports the average marginal effect estimated using a PROBIT model. Three groups of estimates are presented. The first group includes the whole sample of STEM researchers, the second one the subsample of applications made by young researchers, and the last one the subsample of applications made by research teams. In each group, we split the sample considering the

different STEM disciplines.⁶ All the regressions include the same set of covariates: academic recognition; productivity and experience of the responsible researcher; and fixed effects that indicate the type and category of the submitted project, the region and institution of the responsible researcher, and the year of presentation. Explanatory variables are defined so that the base category is a male researcher who submitted a research project.

Considering all disciplines within STEM, results show that compared to male researchers, once all other relevant covariates have been controlled, the average woman researcher's access to public S&T support the first time she submits a project is negative and statistically significant. Considering the sample of STEM researchers, on average, a female researcher has 6.2 p.p. lower probabilities of being awarded during her first application than her male counterpart. Breaking down the sample by a team and by young researchers, results show that gender discrimination is stronger for the former (-8.0 p.p. vs. -5.1 p.p. respectively).

It is worth noting that these results are mainly explained by the Science discipline (which represents at least 80 percent of the STEM researchers who applied for a PICT grant). Gender discrimination in Engineering, Math, and CIS are lower in comparison (and similar to the entire population of STEM researchers in Argentina; see Annex 1). However, since the number of observations in this group is reduced, these findings should be taken with caution.

Hence, regarding our first research question, results so far confirm this manifestation of the Matilda effect. These results also confirm one of our initial hypotheses, regarding the fact that a horizontal program could reproduce the gender bias manifested at the aggregate level in STEM fields. In this line, evidence coincides with previous studies which have highlighted the existence of the Matilda effect in being awarded (Cruz-Castro and Sanz-Menéndez, 2019; Witteman et al., 2019; Mutz, Bornmann, and Daniel, 2012; Waisbren et al., 2008).

⁶ Since the number of observations within the disciplines of Engineering, Mathematics, and Computer and Information Science (CIS) is limited, we considered them a single group. Therefore, appropriate caution is necessary to interpret our empirical findings from this group.

	Whole Sample			Research Tea	ams	Young Researchers			
	STEM	Science	Engineering, Math & CIS	STEM	Science	Engineering, Math & CIS	STEM	Science	Engineering, Math & CIS
Female Researcher	-0.062**	-0.056**	-0.099*	-0.080*	-0.092*	0.031	-0.051*	-0.039+	-0.165**
	(0.017)	(0.018)	(0.048)	(0.033)	(0.036)	(0.099)	(0.020)	(0.021)	(0.059)
Cited per Year	0.003	0.002	0.018**	0.001	0.001	0.009	0.002	0.002	0.024**
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.008)
Published Papers	0.004**	0.004**	0.002	0.003**	0.003**	0.005	0.005+	0.005+	0.004
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.007)
Experience (years)	0.008*	0.007+	0.012	0.007	0.005	0.005	0.007	0.007	0.001
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.010)	(0.006)	(0.007)	(0.019)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.015)
Observations	3,153	2,795	358	779	676	103	2,374	2,119	255
Year FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
STEM FE	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO
Region FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Call FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Institution FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Table 6. Gender Bias in PICT Participation: The Probability of Being Awarded the First Time a Researcher Submits a Project

Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database.

Notes: "FE" refers to fixed effects; Marginal effects. The binary dependent variable takes value 1 if the researcher was awarded. Base category corresponds to a male researcher who applied for a public subsidy for his scientific project. Standard errors in parentheses. ** statistically significant at 1 percent, * statistically significant at 5 percent, + statistically significant at 10 percent.

RQ2 and RQ3 are focused on the other two possible manifestations of the gender gap in the process of allocation of grants. On the one hand, a female researcher may suffer gender discrimination the first time she is awarded a research grant, regardless of how many times she has previously applied for it (RQ2: barriers to participation). On the other hand, a female researcher may suffer gender discrimination when, if awarded before, she submits a project again (RQ3: barriers to recurrent access). Equation [2] allows us to study both manifestations of the gender gap at the same time. To estimate them we employed a Mundlak-Chamberlain approach for the random-effects model. We extended the previous list of covariates with a variable that indicates the number of previous submissions to PICT to control the learning-by-applying process. Once again, estimated results are presented according to the type of call and STEM disciplinary area. The base category characterizes the situation of a male researcher requesting a grant (Table 7).

The first row of Table 7 shows the gap in the probability of being awarded for the first time. According to estimates for the whole sample, after controlling for all other relevant covariates, a female researcher has 3.8 p.p. lower probabilities of being awarded for the first time. The comparison between teams and young researchers shows that gender discrimination is stronger among young female researchers than among research teams: -3.8 p.p. versus -3.0 p.p. respectively. These results are surprising because descriptive statistics indicated the opposite. Regardless, they reinforce the results estimated by Equation [1], to the extent that the Matilda effect is manifested not only the first time a female researcher submits a project but any time, particularly in the case of young female researchers. In fact, the confirmation of RQ2 could suggest the existence of the leaky pipeline effect in the first stages of women's careers, to the extent that lower probabilities might discourage them from participating in STEM research activities (Morcelle, Freitas, and Ludwig, 2019; López-Aguirre, 2019; Xu, 2008).

The analysis of estimated marginal effects within each STEM discipline shows that women researchers in Engineering, Mathematics, and CIS face the same probabilities as male colleagues. On the opposite side, women researchers that belong to Science disciplines suffer a barrier to their participation. The probability of being awarded a research grant for the first time is -4.2 p.p. than that estimated for male researchers.

Finally, the second and third rows of Table 7 show the probability of being a recurrent beneficiary for teams with a female and male responsible researcher, respectively.⁷ Considering all STEM disciplines, estimated marginal effects indicate that once the researcher

⁷ As was mentioned in Section 2, the basis and conditions of PICT's young researcher calls do not allow researchers to be awarded more than once.

has been awarded for the first time, the probability of receiving a new grant increases significantly (+56 p.p. both for female and male researchers), which is in line with previous evidence about the Matthew effect in the case of PICT (Suarez and Fiorentin, 2018; Fiorentin et al., 2018). In this line, evidence denies RQ3 and suggests the absence of gender discrimination in recurrent awarding. In addition, this time we didn't find heterogeneities in terms of STEM disciplines. Therefore, beyond the STEM discipline considered and the gender of the researcher, being awarded in the past triggers a learning and recognition process that positively affects the probability of being awarded again. Despite the fact that previous studies and the evidence presented in this paper show the existence of discrimination against women, those female researchers who have overcome the initial barriers have achieved as much reputation as men.

Summing up, these results may indicate that women who have smashed the glass ceiling at least to some extent and accessed public S&T policy are in the same conditions as men in terms of PICT recurrent access. Then, they are not affected by any gender bias once they have overcome all the barriers which appeared along their path. However, since recurrence similarly impacts the probabilities of being awarded and since women face gender discrimination at the stage of submission, the gender bias persists even among senior female researchers. In addition, the manifestation of just two out of three sources of the Matilda effect may also respond to inconclusive evidence in the literature. The corollary is that most of the dimensions of the Matilda effect must be taken into account when studying gender bias in science.

	Whole Sample				Research Teams			Young Researchers		
	STEM	Science	Engineering, Math & CIS	STEM	Science	Engineering, Math & CIS	STEM	Science	Engineering, Math & CIS	
Female Researcher	-0.038**	-0.042**	0.003	-0.030**	-0.034**	0.013	-0.037*	-0.035*	-0.057	
	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.029)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.038)	(0.017)	(0.018)	(0.053)	
Prev. PICT—Team Led by Female	0.563**	0.560**	0.602**	0.537**	0.535**	0.555**				
	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.060)	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.069)				
Prev. PICT—Team Led by Male	0.560**	0.558**	0.553**	0.537**	0.541**	0.465**				
	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.044)	(0.014)	(0.015)	(0.050)				
Published Papers	0.000	0.000	-0.001	0.001	0.000	0.003	0.012**	0.014**	-0.008	
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.009)	
Citations Received	0.001**	0.001**	0.009**	0.001**	0.001*	0.007*	0.003**	0.003**	0.030**	
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.007)	
Experience (years)	0.014**	0.012*	0.028+	-0.002	-0.009	0.020	0.062**	0.060**	0.098**	
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.016)	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.026)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.029)	
Observations	11,291	10,216	1,075	8,037	7,306	731	3,254	2,910	344	
No. of Researchers	6,429	5,751	678	3,800	3,400	400	2,629	2,351	278	
Time-Averaged Characteristics	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	
Year FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	
STEM FE	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	NO	
Region FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	
Call FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	
Institution FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	
Sigma-u	0.0008	0.0008	0.0004	0.0009	0.0005	0.0007	0.0007	0.0007	0.0017	
Rho	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	

Table 7. Gender Bias in PICT Participation: Probability of Being Awarded

Source: Authors' elaboration based on the PICT database.

Notes: "FE" refers to fixed effects; Marginal effects. The binary dependent variable takes value 1 if the researcher was awarded. Standard errors in parentheses. ***statistically significant at 1 percent, **statistically significant at 5 percent, *statistically significant at 10 percent.

6. Conclusions and Policy Implications

The objective of this study was to analyze the presence of gender bias in the process of allocation of grants for S&T activity in STEM. The question that guided our research was about the presence of the Matilda effect in STEM fields in the case of public S&T policy in Argentina. The empirical approach was based on information provided by the Scientific and Technological Research Projects program (PICT in Spanish) for the period 2003–2015, and the Scopus repository. The methodological approach was based on the application of different identification strategies to identify the existence of gender gaps when women researchers apply for a research grant.

Estimated results confirmed the presence of two out of the three proposed sources of the Matilda effect. First, the probability of being awarded the first time a female researcher applies is 6.2 p.p. lower than for male researchers. Second, the probability of being awarded the first time regardless of the number of submissions in the past is 3.8 p.p. lower among female than male researchers. These results highlight the presence of the Matilda effect in the case of STEM in PICT: women are less likely to be first-time awarded than men. In this vein, since the Matthew effect has been proven in previous studies in general and in the case of PICT in particular, we wondered whether it takes different values for female and male researchers to approximate a third manifestation of the Matilda effect that has not been studied in the literature before. Results do not provide evidence of gender bias in this regard. Past awards impact the probability of persisting within the grant for women as much as for men. This suggests that once women overcome all the obstacles imposed by the S&T system, including first awards, they are in similar conditions to men in terms of being awarded again.

Despite the novelty and robustness of results, this research had some limitations that call for future research on the subject. The most important ones are derived from the nature of the database. We cannot know the different paths of both female and male researchers before applying to PICT. The database is isolated to those outstanding researchers who have at least submitted a project to PICT. Therefore, we do not know how many barriers women had to face to even apply for the first time to this grant. Another limitation is the lack of information about changes in research teams, to the extent that we just count on information about responsible researchers. Sometimes researchers decide to rotate the person in charge of the project to maximize the accumulation of academic background. Therefore, our results may underestimate the Matthew effect because there is no way to know when research teams may rotate responsible researchers in the different submissions. Additionally, we cannot know if this rotation takes place between men and women members of the teams. Finally, we do not

know to what extent gender bias is a result of family composition, division of labor, or mental load, among others, either.

Finally, it is worth stressing some policy implications. Our results show that simple—and traditional—indicators such as the number of female researchers or awarded projects are not enough to analyze the existence of gender parity in S&T. In Argentina, equally distributed charges between women and men hide the fact that women are underrepresented in STEM fields and, therefore, they must submit a higher number of projects to reach the same number of awards as their male counterparts. Our results also show that to some extent a horizontal program to foster S&T activity can be a source of discrimination against women in STEM, increasing the initial gender gaps. All in all, this research shows that two types of policies are required. On the one hand, we need policies to close the present gender gap and eliminate both the observable and unobservable bias. On the other, we need policies that avoid the creation of gender biases at all. In both cases, policymakers will have to create mechanisms to generate consensus regarding the need to modify this situation and to collectively consider complex strategies to eliminate the gender gap and any other form of discrimination.

References

- Aboal, Diego, and Maren Vairo. 2018. "The Impact of Subsidies for Researchers on the Gender Scientific Productivity Gap." *Science and Public Policy* 45(4): 515–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/SCIPOL/SCX080.
- Aiston, Sarah Jane, and Jisun Jung. 2015. "Women Academics and Research Productivity: An International Comparison." *Gender and Education* 27(3): 205–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2015.1024617.
- Albornoz, Mario, et al. 2018. Las Brechas de Género En La Producción Científica Iberoamericana. Papeles Del Observatorio No. 9. Buenos Aires: Observatorio Iberoamericano de la Ciencia, la Tecnología y la Sociedad de la Organización de Estados Iberoamericanos (OCTS-OEI). Available at https://panorama.oei.org.ar/_dev2/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Papeles-del-Observatorio-N°-09.pdf.
- Arora, Ashish, Paul A. David, and Alfonso Gambardella. 2000. "Reputation and Competence in Publicly Funded Science: Estimating the Effects on Research Group Productivity." In D. Encaoua et al. (eds), *The Economics and Econometrics of Innovation*. New York: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-3194-1_6.
- Arredondo Trapero, Florina Guadalupe, José Carlos Vázquez Parra, and Luz María Velázquez Sánchez. 2019. "STEM y Brecha de Género En Latinoamérica." *Revista de El Colegio de San Luis* 9(18): 137–58. https://doi.org/10.21696/rcsl9182019947.
- Arza, Valeria, and Claudia Vazquez. 2015. Evaluación Del Diferencial de Aumento En Producción Científica En Investigadores Apoyados Por PICT vs Grupo de Control.
- Bastarrica, María Cecilia, Nancy Hitschfeld, Maíra Marques Samary, and Jocelyn Simmonds. 2018. "Affirmative Action for Attracting Women to STEM in Chile." *Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Gender Equality in Software Engineering*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3195570.3195576.
- Bautista-Puig, Núria, Carlos García-Zorita, and Elba Mauleón. 2019. "European Research Council: Excellence and Leadership over Time from a Gender Perspective." *Research Evaluation* 28(4): 370–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvz023.
- Bol, Thijs, Mathijs de Vaan, and Arnout van de Rijt. 2018. "The Matthew Effect in Science Funding." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(19): 4887–90. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1719557115.
- Bornmann, Lutz, Rüdiger Mutz, and Hans-Dieter Daniel. 2007. "Gender Differences in Grant Peer Review: A Meta-Analysis." *Journal of Informetrics* 1(3): 226–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joi.2007.03.001.

- Boustan, Leah, and Andrew Langan. 2019. "Variation in Women's Success across PhD Programs in Economics." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 33(1): 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.33.1.23.
- Bukstein, Daniel, and Néstor Gandelman. 2017. Glass Ceiling in Research: Evidence from a National Program in Uruguay. IDB Working Paper Series No. IDB-WP-798. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.
- Canetto, S. S., et al. 2017. "Challenges to the Choice Discourse: Women's Views of Their Family and Academic-Science Career Options and Constraints." *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy* 29(1–2): 4–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/08952833.2016.1273174.
- Carrillo, Paul, Néstor Gandelman, and Virginia Robano. 2014. "Sticky Floors and Glass Ceilings in Latin America." *Journal of Economic Inequality* 12: 339–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10888-013-9258-3.
- Chamberlain, G. 1984. "Panel Data." In Z. Griliches and M. D. Intriligator (eds), *Handbook of Econometrics, Volume 2*. Amsterdam: North Holland.
- Chudnovsky, Daniel, Andrés López, Martín A. Rossi, and Diego Ubfal. 2008. "Money for Science? The Impact of Research Grants on Academic Output." *Fiscal Studies* 29(1): 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5890.2008.00069.x.
- Cidlinská, Kateřina. 2019. "How Not to Scare off Women: Different Needs of Female Early-Stage Researchers in STEM and SSH Fields and the Implications for Support Measures." *Higher Education* 78: 365–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0347-x.
- Codner, Darío. 2011. "Alcance, Resultados e Impactos Del FONCYT Entre 2006 y 2010." In F. Porta and G. Lugones (eds), *Investigación Científica e Innovación Tecnológica En Argentina: Impacto de Los Fondos de La Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica*. Bernal, Argentina: Universidad Nacional de Quilmes Editorial. Available at https://publications.iadb.org/es/investigacion-cientifica-e-innovacion-tecnologica-enargentina-impacto-de-los-fondos-de-la-agencia.
- ——. 2013. Informe de Asesoramiento Para La Evaluación de Impacto Sobre La Productividad de Investigadores Financiados a Través de PICT. Available at https://www.argentina.gob.ar/sites/default/files/evaluacion_de_impacto_sobre_la_produ ctividad_de_investigadores_financiados_a_traves_de_pict.pdf.
- Codner, D., E. Kirchuk, D. Aguiar, G. Benedetti, and S. Barandiarán. 2006. "Evaluación de Instrumentos de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica: El Caso Del Proyecto de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica (PICT) En Argentina." *Redes* 12(24): 131–50.
- Cole, J. R., and H. Zuckerman. 1984. "The Productivity Puzzle: Persistence and Change in Patterns of Publication of Men and Women Scientists." In M. W. Steinkamp and M. Maehr

(eds), *Advances in Motivation and Achievement, Volume* 2. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press Inc. Available at http://jonathanrcole.com/wpcontent/uploads/2011/09/1984ProductivityPuzzle.pdf.

- Conti, Annamaria, and Fabiana Visentin. 2015. "Science and Engineering Ph.D. Students' Career Outcomes, by Gender." *PLoS ONE* 10(8): e0133177. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133177.
- Cremonini, Leon, Edwin Horlings, and Laurens K. Hessels. 2018. "Different Recipes for the Same Dish: Comparing Policies for Scientific Excellence across Different Countries." *Science and Public Policy* 45(2): 232–45. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scx062.
- Cruz-Castro, Laura, and Luis Sanz-Menéndez. 2019. Grant Allocation Disparities from a Gender Perspective: Literature Review. Synthesis Report. GRANteD Project D.1.1. Available at http://hdl.handle.net/10261/200024.
- Dasgupta, Nilanjana, and Jane G. Stout. 2014. "Girls and Women in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics: STEMing the Tide and Broadening Participation in STEM Careers." *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 1(1): 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732214549471.
- David, P. 1994. "Positive Feedbacks and Research Productivity in Science: Reopening Another Black Box." In O. Granstrand (ed), *Economics and Technology*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- D'Onofrio, M. G., and M. V. Tignino. 2018. Indicadores Diagnósticos Sobre La Situación de Las Mujeres En Ciencia y Tecnología En Argentina y Banco de Acciones En Género y Ciencia. Resource document. Buenos Aires: Ministerio de Educación, Cultura, Ciencia y Tecnología (MECCyT).
- Fiorentin, Florencia, Mariano Pereira, and Diana Suarez. 2020. How Does the Gender Gap Work (and Why Does It Matter)? Academic Career, Productivity and Public Funds for Science in Argentina. 19th Gender Summit, Korea, August. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KB8nK3nrk7I.
- Fiorentin, Florencia, Mariano Pereira, Diana Suarez, and Alexis Tcahc. 2018. "Cuando Mateo Conoció a Matilda. Análisis de Recurrencia y Género En El Acceso a Fondos de Apoyo a La Investigación En Argentina." At Seminario Lalics 2018: Los Retos de La CTI Para La Solución de Problemas Nacionales: Compartiendo Experiencias En América Latina y El Caribe. Lalics/AUM-Xochimilco, Mexico City, November 8–9.
- Fox, Mary Frank. 2005. "Gender, Family Characteristics, and Publication Productivity among Scientists." *Social Studies of Science* 35(1): 131–50.
- Frandsen, Tove Faber, Rasmus Højbjerg Jacobsen, Johan A. Wallin, Kim Brixen, and Jakob

Ousager. 2015. "Gender Differences in Scientific Performance: A Bibliometric Matching Analysis of Danish Health Sciences Graduates." *Journal of Informetrics* 9(4): 1007–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joi.2015.09.006.

- Frietsch, Rainer, Inna Haller, Melanie Funken-Vrohlings, and Hariolf Grupp. 2009. "Gender-Specific Patterns in Patenting and Publishing." *Research Policy* 38(4): 590–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2009.01.019.
- Ghezan, Lautaro, and Mariano Pereira. 2014. Evaluación De Impacto Del Financiamiento De PICT. Buenos Aires: CIECTI. Available at http://www.ciecti.org.ar/publicaciones/it1-evaluacion-de-impacto-pict/.
- Godin, Benoit. 2003. The Impact of Research Grants on the Productivity and Quality of Scientific Research. INRS Working Paper 2003. Ottawa: INRS. Available at http://www.csiic.ca/PDF/NSERC.pdf.
- Head, Michael G., Joseph R. Fitchett, Mary K. Cooke, Fatima B. Wurie, and Rifat Atun. 2013.
 "Differences in Research Funding for Women Scientists: A Systematic Comparison of UK Investments in Global Infectious Disease Research during 1997–2010." *BMJ Open* 3(12): e003362. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003362.
- Huang, Junming, Alexander J. Gates, Roberta Sinatra, and Albert László Barabási. 2020.
 "Historical Comparison of Gender Inequality in Scientific Careers across Countries and Disciplines." *PNAS* 117(9): 4609–16. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1914221117.
- Inglesi-Lotz, Roula, and Anastassios Pouris. 2011. "Scientometric Impact Assessment of a Research Policy Instrument: The Case of Rating Researchers on Scientific Outputs in South Africa." *Scientometrics* 88: 747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-011-0440-8.
- Jacob, Brian A., and Lars Lefgren. 2011. "The Impact of Research Grant Funding on Scientific Productivity." *Journal of Public Economics* 95(9–10): 1168–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.05.005.
- Jappelli, Tullio, Carmela Anna Nappi, and Roberto Torrini. 2017. "Gender Effects in Research Evaluation." *Research Policy* 46(5): 911–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.03.002.
- Jiménez-Rodrigo, María Luisa, Emilia Martínez-Morante, María del Mar García-Calvente, and Carlos Álvarez-Dardet. 2008. "Through Gender Parity in Scientific Publications." *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62(6): 473. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2008.074294.
- Kubota, Ryuko. 2003. "New Approaches to Gender, Class, and Race in Second Language
 Writing." *Journal of Second Language Writing* 12(1): 31–47.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1060-3743(02)00125-X.

- Kyvik, Svein. 1990. "Motherhood and Scientific Productivity." *Social Studies of Science* 20(1): 149–60. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F030631290020001005.
- Kyvik, Svein, and Mari Teigen. 1996. "Child Care, Research Collaboration, and Gender Differences in Scientific Productivity." *Science, Technology, & Human Values* 21(1): 54– 71. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F016224399602100103.
- Langfeldt, Liv, Mats Benner, Gunnar Sivertsen, Ernst H. Kristiansen, Dag W. Aksnes, Siri Brorstad Borlaug, Hanne Foss Hansen, Egil Kallerud, and Antti Pelkonen. 2015.
 "Excellence and Growth Dynamics: A Comparative Study of the Matthew Effect." *Science* and Public Policy 42(5): 661–75. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scu083.
- León, Lorena Rivera, Jacques Mairesse, and Robin Cowan. 2017. Gender Gaps and Scientific Productivity in Middle-Income Countries: Evidence from Mexico. IDB Working Paper Series No. IDB-WP-800. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank. Available at https://publications.iadb.org/en/gender-gaps-and-scientific-productivity-middleincome-countries-evidence-mexico.
- Linková, Marcela. 2017. "Academic Excellence and Gender Bias in the Practices and Perceptions of Scientists in Leadership and Decision-Making Positions." *Gender and Research* 18(1): 42–66. https://doi.org/10.13060/25706578.2017.18.1.349.
- López-Aguirre, Camilo. 2019. "Women in Latin American Science: Gender Parity in the Twenty-First Century and Prospects for a Post-War Colombia." *Tapuya: Latin American Science, Technology and Society* 2(1): 356–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/25729861.2019.1621538.
- López-Bassols, Vladimir, Matteo Grazzi, Charlotte Guillard, and Mónica Salazar. 2018. Las Brechas de Género En Ciencia, Tecnología e Innovación En América Latina y El Caribe: Resultados de Una Recolección Piloto y Propuesta Metodológica Para La Medición. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank. Available at https://publications.iadb.org/es/las-brechas-de-genero-en-ciencia-tecnologia-einnovacion-en-america-latina-y-el-caribe-resultados.
- Mairesse, Jacques, Michele Pezzoni, and Fabiana Visentin. 2019. "Impact of Family Characteristics on the Gender Publication Gap: Evidence for Physicists in France." *Interdisciplinary* Science Reviews 44(2): 204–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/03080188.2019.1603884.
- Mauleón, Elba, and María Bordons. 2006. "Productivity, Impact and Publication Habits by Gender in the Area of Materials Science." *Scientometrics* 66(1): 199–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-006-0014-3.
- Merton, Robert K. 1968. "The Matthew Effect in Science: The Reward and Communication

Systems of Science Are Considered." Science 159: 56–63.

- ——. 1988. "The Matthew Effect in Science, II: Cumulative Advantage and the Symbolism of Intellectual Property." *Isis* 79(4): 606–23. http://www.jstor.org/stable/234750.
- Miller, David I., Alice H. Eagly, and Marcia C. Linn. 2015. "Women's Representation in Science Predicts National Gender-Science Stereotypes: Evidence from 66 Nations." *Journal of Educational Psychology* 107(3): 631–44. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000005.
- MINCyT. 2011. Producción y Productividad de Los Investigadores. Un Análisis de Los Proyectos PICT Del FONCyT. Buenos Aires: Ministerio de Ciencia, Tecnología e Innovación Productiva.
- Morcelle, Viviane, G. Freitas, and Zélia Maria Da Costa Ludwig. 2019. "From School to University: An Overview on STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) Gender in Brazil." QUARKS: Brazilian Electronic Journal of Physics, Chemistry and Materials Science 1(1): 40–52.
- Mundlak, Y. 1978. "On the Pooling of Time Series and Cross Section Data." *Econometrica* 46: 69–85.
- Mutz, Rüdiger, Lutz Bornmann, and Hans-Dieter Daniel. 2012. "Does Gender Matter in Grant Peer Review? An Empirical Investigation Using the Example of the Austrian Science Fund." *Zeitschrift Für Psychologie* 220(2): 121.
- Ong, Maria, Carol Wright, Lorelle Espinosa, and Gary Orfield. 2011. "Inside the Double Bind: A Synthesis of Empirical Research on Undergraduate and Graduate Women of Color in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics." *Harvard Educational Review* 81(2): 172–209.
- Padilla-Gonzalez, Laura, Amy Scott Metcalfe, Jesús F. Galaz-Fontes, Donald Fisher, and Iain Snee. 2011. "Gender Gaps in North American Research Productivity: Examining Faculty Publication Rates in Mexico, Canada, and the U.S." *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education* 41(5): 649–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2011.564799.
- Park, Sanghee. 2020. "Seeking Changes in Ivory Towers: The Impact of Gender Quotas on Female Academics in Higher Education." *Women's Studies International Forum* 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2020.102346.
- Piña-Watson, Brandy, et al. 2016. "Moving Away from a Cultural Deficit to a Holistic Perspective: Traditional Gender Role Values, Academic Attitudes, and Educational Goals for Mexican Descent Adolescents." *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 63(3): 307– 18. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000133.

Prpić, Katarina. 2002. "Gender and Productivity Differentials in Science." Scientometrics 55:

27-58. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016046819457.

- Ranga, Marina, Namrata Gupta, and Henry Etzkowitz. 2012. "Gender Effects in Research Funding. A Review of the Scientific Discussion on the Gender-Specific Aspects of the Evaluation of Funding Proposals and the Awarding of Funding." Report for the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG).
- Rossiter, Margaret W. 1993. "The Matthew Matilda Effect in Science." *Social Studies of Science* 23(2): 325–41. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F030631293023002004.
- SiCyTAR. 2020. Argentine Science and Technology Information Portal. Available at https://datos.mincyt.gob.ar/#/.
- Sonnert, Gerhard, and Gerald James Holton. 1995. *Who Succeeds in Science? The Gender Dimension*. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Sotudeh, Hajar, and Nahid Khoshian. 2014. "Gender Differences in Science: The Case of Scientific Productivity in Nano Science & Technology during 2005–2007." *Scientometrics* 98: 457–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-013-1031-7.
- Statistics Canada. 2016. STEM and BHASE (Non-STEM) Groupings, Major Field of Study— Classification of Instructional Programs (CIP) 2016 (36). Available at https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/dt-td/Rpeng.cfm?TABID=7&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=6&FL=A&FREE=0&GC=01 &GID=1334853&GK=1&GRP=1&PID=111346&PRID=10&PTYPE=109445&S=0&SHO WALL=0&SUB=0&Temporal=2017&THEME=123&VID=27119&VNAMEE=&VNAMEF=.
- Steinþórsdóttir, Finnborg S., Þorgerður Einarsdóttir, Gyða M. Pétursdóttir, and Susan Himmelweit. 2020. "Gendered Inequalities in Competitive Grant Funding: An Overlooked Dimension of Gendered Power Relations in Academia." *Higher Education Research and Development* 39(2): 362–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1666257.
- Suarez, Diana, and Florencia Fiorentin. 2018. Federalización y Efecto Mateo En La Política Científica. El Caso Del PICT En La Argentina (2012–2015). CIECTI Working Paper 12. Buenos Aires: CIECTI. Available at http://www.ciecti.org.ar/publicaciones/federalizaciony-efecto-mateo-pict/.
- Sunderland, Jane. 2006. Language and Gender: An Advanced Resource Book. New York: Routledge.
- UNESCO. 2017. Cracking the Code: Girls' and Women's Education in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM). Paris: UNESCO. Available at https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000253479.
- Vera-Cruz, Alexandre O., Gabriela Dutrénit, Javier Ekboir, Griselda Martínez, and Arturo Torres-Vargas. 2008. "Virtues and Limits of Competitive Funds to Finance Research and

Innovation: The Case of Mexican Agriculture." *Science and Public Policy* 35(7): 501–13. https://doi.org/10.3152/030234208X345943.

- Waisbren, Susan E., et al. 2008. "Gender Differences in Research Grant Applications and Funding Outcomes for Medical School Faculty." *Journal of Women's Health* 17(2): 207– 14. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2007.0412.
- Witteman, Holly O., Michael Hendricks, Sharon Straus, and Cara Tannenbaum. 2019. "Are Gender Gaps Due to Evaluations of the Applicant or the Science? A Natural Experiment at a National Funding Agency." *The Lancet* 393(10171): 531–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32611-4.
- Xu, Yonghong Jade. 2008. "Gender Disparity in STEM Disciplines: A Study of Faculty Attrition and Turnover Intentions." *Research in Higher Education* 49: 607–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-008-9097-4.
- Zare-ee, Abbas, and Sheena Kuar. 2012. "Do Male Undergraduates Write More Argumentatively?" *Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences* 46 (January): 5787–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.515.

Annex 1. The STEM Gap in Argentina

This Annex describes the current situation of women STEM researchers in Argentina at the aggregate level. The tables were elaborated using the information from the Argentine Science and Technology Information Portal (SiCyTAR, 2020) and refer to the total number of active researchers in 2018 (last available data). Table 8 shows the distribution of researchers according to their gender and main field of study. The participation of female researchers in STEM disciplines is 38 percent, while among men it almost reaches 50 percent.

	Female		Ма	le	Total		
Science	5,006	27%	3,759	28%	8,765	27%	
Engineering	1,560	8%	1,903	14%	3,463	11%	
Math and CIS	578	3%	650	5%	1,228	4%	
STEM	7,144	38%	6,312	47%	13,456	42%	
Non-STEM	11,578	62%	7,137	53%	18,715	58%	
Active Researchers	18,722	100%	13,449	100%	32,171	100%	

Table 8. Argentine Scientific System: Researcher Distribution by Gender and Discipline(2018)

Source: Authors' elaboration based on SiCyTAR (2020).

Table 9 shows that male researchers publish more papers than their female colleagues. This general pattern is only altered within Engineering, where men and women show similar academic productivity. This result can be explained by the fact that most women have a PhD degree. The rest of the indicators show that the best male performance is concentrated in Science. In this case, academic productivity in higher-quality journals is double than that registered among female researchers. In addition, the rate of application and granting of patents is higher among men. In the rest of the STEM fields, no significant differences by gender were found.

	Science			En	Engineering			Math and CIS		
	Female	Male	p- value	Female	Male	p- value	Female	Male	p- value	
Age	42	44	0.000	43	45	0.000	46	42	0.000	
PhD	66%	73%	0.000	56%	49%	0.000	39%	55%	0.000	
Papers (All journals)	5	8	0.000	5	4	0.200	3	4	0.000	
Papers (SJR > 1)	2	4	0.000	2	2	0.110	1	1	0.090	
Probability of patent application	3%	5%	0.000	8%	10%	0.130	1%	2%	0.120	
Probability of being granted a patent	1%	2%	0.000	2%	3%	0.040	1%	2%	0.160	

Table 9. Characteristics of STEM Researchers by Gender

Source: Authors' elaboration based on SiCyTAR (2020).

Finally, Table 10 shows that vertical segregation is mainly documented in the Science discipline. Women's participation tends to decrease when higher positions are analyzed (from 28 percent in the lowest up to 11 percent in the highest). However, the distribution tends to be more equitable within the rest of the STEM disciplines.

Seniority		Science		E	ngineerin	g	Math and CIS		
Level	Female	Male	p- value	Female	Male	p- value	Female	Male	p- value
А	11%	21%	0.000	14%	15%	0.500	11%	13%	0.270
В	17%	18%	0.510	14%	19%	0.000	21%	17%	0.120
С	44%	39%	0.000	46%	45%	0.460	51%	47%	0.150
D	28%	22%	0.000	25%	21%	0.010	16%	23%	0.010
	100%	100%		100%	100%		100%	100%	

Table 10. Hierarchical Distribution in STEM Disciplines by Gender

Source: Authors' elaboration based on SiCyTAR (2020).

Note: D is the lowest level of the hierarchy and A is the highest level.